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Dear Jim and Mary

Rased on our undersianding thatyou will use thess materials ooly for the purpose of dedding whether ta
froreed o trial In any of the above-referanced matters, we provide you here with summeries of what we have
personally kesmed from Interviewing most of the members of e 2006 Duke Unlversity Men's Laoosse Tesm who
sttenderd the party Bt 510 North Buchanan Boulevard on March 13, 2006, :

‘Bafori: getting inte the substance of these summaries, it would help to explain what was happening with
the lacrosse team at that Ume. On Szburday, March 13, 2006, the team hed plaved a game ageinst Loyols of
Baltimors b San Dlego, Califomia, They reltrmed to Durham on Sunday, March 12, 2006, That week was spring
brek for Duke University, but the lacresse team ‘wes staying in town for dafly practice, For 8 number of years
preceding 2005, the lacosse team had seversl ™radiions™ during spring break, Induding an annual visltte a sirip
ciub Tn Dutbam =iled Teaser's, Last year, however, several members of the team, Including the caplains,
discussad 2ri sitemative seemario of kaving 2 parly at 610 K. Buchanan and g strippers to perform, That way,
the rnder-2] players mould partidpste, and everyone could save money by contyibuting ooe hemg sum for besr acd
the cost of Ridng the shippers.

Atcordingly, after He team pracice on the moming of Mondsy, March 13, 2005, ihe word began In
dreufate among the team members thet, in pleca of the annuel tep o Teasers, thers would ba 2 party thet night st
%10 8. Buchansn, which wes ocoupled by co-capieing Dan Flannery, Matt Zash, and Dave Evans, In the mieantime,
the-players were kwited o coms and go as they pleased 2t 610 N. Buchanan throughaut the afterrmon and early
svening, and many of them were goelng back and forth between 620 N, Buchanan and 1105 Urban Sirest, 2 nearby
house also secupied by lacrosse players and which neady shared & back vard with 610 N. Buchanan,

On Merch 15, 2005, when Durham police officers anived 1o execuls the search wament at 610 N,
Burhanan, they ohtsined the ull copperstion of is residents: Dave Evans, Dan Flannery, and Mall Zash, As part of
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that cooperation, =i three volontarly went to the police siation, where they provided oral and handwritien
statements shout the everts of that evening. Thelr siatements have been aveliabls In the Stels since that date and
wera jnchuded In the discovery mterisls provided to the defendants on May 18, 2008,

Therealter, we personglly Interviewsd 27 addifionsl members of the team sbout whether hey were at the
party, what they observed amd heard st the party, and whether they observed or heard anything after the party
that would lead them o belleve thet any physical or sevual assault Bed oorumed ab the party. This letter wiil
rontaln sumimaries of thoss addtional interviews In narvative form,

For the sske of effidency and continolty, while most of the players who atiended the pasty did not know
the e {sctual or fake) of elther women, we will refer to them In this letter by thelr resl names, Crystal Mangum
arid Kirs Roberts, Hkewise, becanse we will often refer to locations inside and outside the house, we Indude balow
a siightly modified version of the not-to-scale sketch of 610 N, Buchanan drawn by DPD Orime Scene Investigstor
Anpela Ashby during her work there on March 16, 2006, The wxiginal skelch appears at page 1746 of the discovery
materiais. We have modified | o Include the typewrifien area jabels seen In the Jmage below. Evardhioele §s
reteined fom the ofginel. When referring to lorstons in the Individus! nermalive swnmaries, we will refer
interchangesbly to Inv. Ashby's handwritten izbels Brd our typewrfden febels. You will also see that we heye
{aheled one otherwise inidenttied room as the "Belrut mom ™ Thet & where 2 number of the players engaged i 2
drinking gamie called *Belut”™ throughout the evening and night. We have also Isbeled the haliway oulside of sach
hethroom with the corresponding letter that Inv. Ashby assigned to the respective bathroom.

N ;- 610 NORTH BUCHARAN S%LEVARE ]

A .

L DenFarnery | LIVING mm

L - Bedroom 1 y :

E’ Wﬁﬁ@ . K

Y : 5 T "Befrut Room”™
Y gk d - halwaya - -

F g Dave E :
% < Beﬁ?aaﬁ?

!i“ '

Back Porch & i}am*

BACK.YARD

Zlso for the sske of effdency and continuity; you should know thst several wriversal ghsarvdions and.
~themes™ emerged during our seperete Interviews of the plsvers, Dan Fanoery was primeriy responsible for Biing
the sirippers and, when making the amangements, requested white women, since 46 of the 47 players on the tearm
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viers white. Diave Evans was prmatily resprnsible for eollecting the money, from the players to pay for beer and for
the fees gioted by the escort service ($400.00 per stripper for two howrs of performance, fora totl of $800.00),
Pecple were told that both sirippers would be srriving st 13:00 p.m. Artund that Hine, the majonly of partygoers
assembled iy the Iving rooim, where couches and chalrs hiad besn sebup aling the perfmeter of e room to give
the strippers an stea b the middle Yo parfons. While one of the strippers (Kim Roberts) arvived on fime, the other
stripper {Cry=tal Manguni} did not arrhe for quite some 8me, leaving most of the pariygoers sliting by the fving
yoom walting Sor nearly an hour for something to happen.

" Betzuse | was comwnon keowledpe that o request had been made for white stippers, many of the players
were surprised when they heard or sew that the sirippers were niot white: They were firther surprised whan they
saw the actial performance Yself; espechally Crystal Mangum’s behavior, which most belfeved o be the product of
somie type of significant impalrment by aleoho! andfor drugs. Within minutes of the beginaing of the performance,
one of the partyooars engaged In an exchange with Kim Roberts aboit whether the strippers had brought sny sex
toys to perform with, When Roherks sald nio, the plaver suggested thet they use 3 broomstick which was Jsaning tp
soainst the wall and which had besy tsed b sweep the iving oo Boor befare the performance, He held up the
broomstick when he maﬁe the suggestion. Your will often see us refer to this as "the broomstick mmment,”

After the bmumsﬁck omment was miade, Kim Roberts fmmedisialy ended the routine, which bt been
sieted to fast for bo honrs but which had only lasted for several miinutes, While seversl people confirmed hearing
& racial slor uttersd towsrd the women outside the house shortly before Kim Roberts drove away from 610 K.
Buchansn with Crystal Mangum In the passenger sesf; to a person, everyone depied hesting any raclel slurs at any
othey tme that night {inside or ouiside the house), and everyone denied hearing ary threats of vickence (with a
broomstick or othenadse} toward efther woman by any paitygoer at any Hme {(Inside or outside the hoose).  *

{evise, everyone we interviewsd denled seelng o hearing aything—slther at the party or sfer the
party—thst would rem:zteiy suggest thet a physicel or sexual assault pooured that might, or fhet there had beeh
any effort o *cover It up” Bhereatter, To & person, sach player we Interviewed sakd he would not expect snyone on
bis team, fet afone Reade Sefigmenn or Collln Finnerty of Dave Evans, o have engaged in any such ad, and szch

plyer said he would have Intervened I he thought for one moment that such an 20 was oocourring.

Everyons we Inferviewsd sald thet Dave Evans did net have a mustache ot He night of March 13, 2008, or
at any other tme,

Finally, vuiside of a few exceptions, the 2005 seriors fnduding Dave Evang) oenertly did rot socalies
with the 2006 sophomores {including Collin Hrnerty and Reade Seligmann]. And, sven within the sophomore diss,
Calfin and Reade did mot occupy the same cligue. As one of the players put &, "IF you pit those three guys in 2
roorm together, they wouldn't know what to say to each other.™ As ancther pub & “They wouldnt sportaneously
have gone cut fu dinper together, let alone committed & rape tngether,™

Vith the foregoing in mind, we have elacted to confine fhese summarkes fo the relevant issues of this case,

We are pot Induding backgreund or biographial dalz shout the pleyers unless | bears diredly on thelr
dheernetions at the parly on the night of March 13, 2008,

LA AR R A A AR A AR AR RS IR EEEE RS AR IR -

BO CARRINGTON

Bo Carrdnglon wes s sophomore on March 13, 2006, and by mentor o the tesm was co<apizin Dan
Flannery, Carrington spent a ot of that aftemoon going hack and forth betwsen 610 N, Buchanan and 1105 Urban
Strest, 3 nesrby house also sccupled by brrosse players, Carrington was nek drinking.

Thie Hirst thet Carrington hesrd that sirippers would be Hived for the parly that night was sarler that
afternoon, when he was at 1105 Urban Strest, After hearing Hvet news, Carington went over (0 610 N, Buchanzn,
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where Be saw Dan Fennery. They tked sbout how to go about hirng sirippems, and they began with inlermet
resgarchs for escort services on 2 Isptop computer in the Iving roum, Flarmery called several numbers before
getting s answer. Camington lsened o Flannery’s side of the conversation, in which Flannery wes acking about
Firing tevs white strippers to perform for two hours that night. Camringlon stggested thet Flannery ghve the agency
z Take mame, and 50 Das Flannery identified Nimse¥ as Ban “Flanagan.” Flennery also sald % would be 2 smalt
armup of guys at a bachelor party. After Hhat Infial conversation, Ranpary and Carrington waited by the phone for
= return call rom the sgancy. The calf eventuplly ceme, and Flannery was given fhe “detalls” of several women, He
confirmed the request for by of the women. He was told thst one would be white and the other would be
Hispanic, and it would cost $400.00 per performer for 2 bours of performance, Cerrington did nof recall that Dave
Evans had any invalvement in hirlng the strippers,

Cartingion spent most of the earfy evening and pight In the back yard of 510 H. Buchanen playing washers

 with a number of other players, He did go Inside the house ooceslonally to the Belrt roar and the living reom, He

remernbered seelng Collin Finnerty and Reade Selfigmann 2t the party, but he could not remember exactly when or
where.

Camington watied with Dan Flannery for the sirippers o arrive on the front porch and In the Fond yaed of
the house aroond 11300 park. Pannéry had been drinking but did not appesr to be “that drunk.” Between 11;10
arm. and 11120 pas., Kim Raberis arived and perked her car in fronf of 816 K. Buchanan, Carringter then il 610
. Buchanan and rehmed to 1105 Urban, where he pleyed video games. He was not presept for the strippers’
routine, ’

Some Hme later, Josh Covalesid amived ab 1105 Urban from 810 K. Buchanan, H2 sald thet the sbippers’
rowuting Tsucked” Severs) other guys scon Followed and shared the same sentiment. Carringtze said he thought
Collin Flnmerty was one of those guys, but he could not be 100% sure. Rob Schosder was definitely one of the
puys, and Carrngton ramembered Schvoedsr saying something about how they had all gotlen Into an argument
sbout maney and that some of the people &t 510 N, Buchanzm wens sfaid that s bigcer” for the strippers might
coms back with & gun and shoot the place up. Because Carrngton was sober, he decided o oo over 1o BI0 N
Buchanan ¥ dea) with the siiustion as needed.

Carington estimated that he walked back over fo 610 1, Buchanan around 12:25 &am, of 1230 2am. He
zaw & group of puys Sepding slong the Bast Campas wall, Including Tony McDevil and Dan Oppedisann, Mdevitt
said the strippers had locked themselves tn the bathroom but eventually came out. One of them was now passed
out, 308 1o one knew wiat o do with hen Kim Roberts” car was st parkad in front of the house.

Carrington was shout to go back In the house when he saw Dan Flabnely walldng up the allay with the
strippars. One of them could barely walk, and Flannery helped fhat one Inio the front passenger seat of the car
Camington heard a Iot of yelling go on, but he did not bear any raclal shurs of any Kind.

Camington heand the police wers coming, 57 he got Inim & ceb with several guys around 12050 am. The
guys were complaining that e sirippers’ routine “sucked” and hed cost them ali §800.00. Ore of the guys seld
thet Peter Lamade had made a comment that upset the sinppers,

VAN
Ryan McFadyen frst headed over to 618 N, Buchanan on March 13, 2006, arnund 2:00 or 300 pm. and

played weashers In the back vard. He watched a Bitle television a5 well and drank some beer and cocked out some
tamburgers, He left 510 N. Buchanan arournd 6:00 pan. end went fo the gym fo work out. He then went to fils

dorm room 2t Edens 2C end showered: He got & ride back fo 610 N. Buchanan with Mike Young. They stopped st

the Canting for food along the way, and McFadyen arrived back at the party after dark, sometime after B:00 paw.

&t it Hme, most of the players were i the back yvard playing washers. McFadyen did not diink any besr
whils he was gone from 516 N. Buchanan but resumed drinking beer when he retumed, He was in the back yard
when Dan Flannery came back ® say Hhat one of the sirippers hed amved and to ask them ¥ anyone had a

Pis #00027597



Letter to Jim Comean & Mary Winstead, Page 5
Februsry 15, 2007

digarette 1o give Yo her. No ope did. Flannery told them all to go Inslde to get ready for the rouiie Yo start
Mcredyen then went Info the fving room area, Al the seats were taken, so he hopped the cotch cutslde Dan
Flannery's bedroom door and went Into Fannery's roont. There he saw Ed Douglas and Matl Zash,

The second shipper amived at some polnt after thet, and Flasnery tame Into the ving room o et
evervone know thet che was Bladk, Devon Sherwood, the only bl b ack maefmber of the team, gof up and cheered. AF
some polnt after $hat, the rutine begen, McPadyen was in Flannery’s room when it Began, and he did hot watch
the whote thing. He fooked inte the ving room a couple oF Himes. On one eccesion he saw 5 couple of govs pulling
down Kevin Meyer's shorts, snd Mayer, whe had been passed out, rleffy woke up and got upset. On another
orcasion, McFadyen looked into the mom and saw Crystal Mangum trying to act ke she was having sex with im
Roherts. It fnoked so awkward that people were laughing. He then heard someone say “broomstce” A few
minutes fater, he lonked back into the living rooin, and the strippers were gons.

McFadyen then walked to the door In Matt Zashs berdroony adjscent to Hallway B. He unlocked the doar
ard walkad Into the haflway and then Into Dave’s room, He sew Dave's back and st lzast ung of the sirippers in
[reve's ropm. Dave was gestring 5 I be was Irving o explain something.

MicPadyen then went to use the bathroom In Bathroom B. He sew & smell black purse on the Jeft side of
thiz sirk with money on ik He did not ke the money. He walked back out of Batfvoom B.and back through Matt
“Fasl's room Inka Dan Flapneny’s room, where he sat on the bed for about 5 minutes, Some guys were sl in the
Bving room aiking.

McFadyer then walked back through Matt Zasl's bedroom into Balway B to Fhe back doot ares, whers he
saw Dave Evans on the porch. Dave was iking with Peter Lamade about money. McFadyen furmed around and
went back to Ssthwoom B and got the money thet was on the Black purse. He brought | back o Deve and sald,
“Here's the fnney.” Dave was upsst that McFadyen had isken the money back, ard he Immediztely told FicFadyen
to put i back. McFadyen remembered Dave saying, “Thelr plinps wiil come back here, and theyll have guns.®
McFadyen took the monzy back ko Bsthwoom B and left & there on the black purse.

MicFadyen then Joft the house throngh the back door and watked towand the gste It the ol fnk feace in
thé back yerd, McFadyen ssw Crystel Mangum welking Srough the gate, One of the guys—McFadyen thougis |
was Dan Loffus——was holding the gate open for ber and suld “Thank you” when she walked through. Manguen
replied, “Fack vou.” She was saggering. Mehadyen walked up the alley to the fropt of the house,

Cuit T front of the howse, McFadyen saw Kim Roberts” car wes still there. He did riot zee anyone In the car,
But Dan Rannery was cutside the car telking to someons whe was shiiously insids the car. McFadyen then walked
to 1105 Urban Street, There he sew Bo Camington, Josh Covalesk|, and Steve Schoefiel. Shottly sfter thst, he
walked bark 0 the front of 610 K, Buchanan,

When he got back to the front of 510 ¥, Buchanan, Mcadyen sew Den Flennery walldng Crysial Mangum
1o the front passenger sde of Kim Robarts” car. He heard Kim Roberds colf someone a "iitfle-dick white boy”

Shortly after thet, she drove off, He heand one of the players say someliving slong the es of "Hey, e sure 1o

thank your grendfather for my cotton shi”

Shrtly after that, McFadyen took a caly back to ks dorm, Edens 2C, with several offier guys, inchding Bo
Carrington, Josh Covaleskl, and Kevin Mayer.

MIKE CATALING

Mifke Catsling ardered food thet night sad had & delivered to 5310 N. Buchannan. He did rot have anyibing
to drink befare he got to the house that niobt, and he estimated that he drank & tofs! of 5 & B cups of beer af
pight. He recalied that Dave Bvens was coflecting mpney to pay for the beer keg and the siippers. He also
remembered seeing Colin Finnerty several Ymes throughout the sight, He sko rmembered seeln Reade
Sefigmenn at the party and thought he was 15 the living room during the strippers’ short performance. Both Collin
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and Reade were sctng pormally when Catsiino siw themn. At shout 10:30 pan., Calsling began to migrete with
others toward the living room In antidpation of the strippers’ armival st 11:00 p.m, He was expedting a performance
fike something out of the Deml Moore movie “Shriptease”™

Im Roberts amived around 1400 poey., gt Calalino sow Dem Flannery nutclde taking b her, Sometime
fater, Dave Evans came jnto the living reom and sald thet bothy sieippers were now therss He informed the group
that one of the women was black and asked thé group ¥ they stll “wented to go Hhrough with 117 Everyvone sald

Afier & sforfficant armobint of addifional time went by, Robests and Crysial Mangom came Into e living
room and started el routing, They seemed unable Io perform together, Mangum had a very awkward smille on
her fece ond was moaning Jo an olwious but expyggereted atterapt to slimate an argasm. She and Roberts wers

“mofing sround the floar on each other” The guys in the Iving room were shocked and embarmessed. Some
thought the whole thing wes 3 Joke, The atmosphere was awkwand and tense and dearly not what any of them

had expected,

At gne polnt, Devon Sherwood approached the shippers b join In the routine, but one of them told Rim o
53t back dowrs. At encther polnt, Dan Flannery pouced §ome beer on ona of the strippers, At some point shortly
after that, someone asked the strippers If they had brought “anything to play with.” Peter Lamade then referrad to
& nearby broomstick and sald, "Why donT you use this?” The comment did not seem o upset Crystal Maogum,
wha pppesred to ba out of It, but Kim Roberis did become upseh She yeller, “This sn't righty you're scaring rsa”
Cetaling thought & was en overresdiion to the comment. Dan Flannery sald, "Givs us a break” Roberls and
Mangumn then 8 the ving room through the Belrut room. Fannery followsed them with 3 “woried” Jook an b
fare,

Cataling and severed others then sterted to get roncerned. The general thought: ‘this was not golng at af
2z we had expected, Given Roberis” overreactlon to the broomstick comment, they warried shout what Roberts
might say or do. They were afrald the police mnight be called and they would be there drinkdng underage. A nurmber
of the guys then Jeft the living room and the house out the front door, Cateding stayed in the iving room for s few.
mitnutes, ong with severaf othees.

He then walked back through the Beind room o the kichen, He Jooked out the window of the Riichen door
and sew nothing. He then walked back frough the Belnut room, down Hallway A, through Dave’s bedroom, nte
Hallway B {oulside of Bathroom B), and toward the hack door. He sood there In the dootway and saw Dan
Flennery telking & one of the stippers (ke conld not recadl which one} near the gate of the chaln fink fence, snd
Hannery appeared to be it “problem-solving mode,”

Catadino then wrned around and walked back By Bathroom B, In thers, he saw Ryan McFadyen and ons or
two other guys, refther of whom was Coflis or Reade, Catalino remembered that he ren ino Deve Bians back in
that part of the house at some point around tils fme. Catsling then went Into the bathroom. He saw 2 purse oo
the bathroom sink with 2 “wad of tash” on & He heard 2 nunbey of different comments golng back and forth
among the guys back there sbout the money: "There’s the money™; “They don® deserve 1] "They just got up and
left™s “They sarewed us over” Cataling thought that McFadyen ook the mopey. He remambered Fearing Dove
Evans sy, "Put the money back, and dou'’t teke anything,” Catalio thoughk that MeFadyen might have thrown fhe
mogey behind the door inta 2 cupboard, He never saw Collln or Reade back there at any tme,

Catalin went back fo the Bving room and outside throtgh the Font deor. He hung onislde In the front
vard for & few minutes, Xm Roberls’ tar was still parkey! ot front, He sew Kevin Mayer and Zadk Greer, Mayer was
commplaining about wantisg to get Hs money back, Calaling then walked towand the alley and looked down the

aliey, where he sew Dan Flannery talking to one of the strippsrs (he could not recall which onell

Cataling then left fe area with Dan Theodordis and walked toward bis dormt room, Catalino 4i8 not ses or
hear anything that night &Rer the dance o spggest thet 2 physical or sexual asseult occurred, and he rever saw
‘Collir or Reade in tha badk of the house nesr Dave's bedroom and Bathroom B st any Hme,
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PETER LAMABE

Petar Lamade anived 2t 510 N. Buchanan around 8490 pun, He had several beers before His aival snd
several after s arrival, and he estimeted that he had anywhese between § and 10 beers In the avening and night
preceding the dance mutine. He remembered that Dave Evans was collecting money for the perly,

Lamade recslied that Kim Roberls arived alone, and Dan Flannery annpunced ber srival o the people
who had gathered In e Tving robm 1o watch the routine, Lamade remermbered Hiat Flannisry mede 3 comment
abbut how Roberts wes “darker skinned.” At Hhat polnt, 1amede “amped out” ot & spot In the doorway betiween
the Jving roor and the Belrut room. He walted with the nthers In the living room for the second sfripper to armive
s begin the muline.

A some polit thereafter, Kim Roberls and Crystal Mangum entered the lving room from Helheay &,
Lamade recalled that most of the guys In the living room sppeared "stunned” when the sirippers walked In, Crystal
Mangum seemed “relatively messed up” and, In fact, feff down on the floor seon after waking Info the Iving room.
When she yose ug, she pul her face in the rear end of Kim Reberts, which slartled Roberts. Lamade remlled that
thers was some f=king snd joking geing bBack and forth among the guys In the room and the strippers, and, at one
point, Devon Sherwood got up to approach the siippers, Roberts lughed and told Sherwood to st back down,
witich he did,

Lamede then asked the siippers ¥ they “had any toys.” He could not recalt whet thelr response was, but
he then ssid ™Why don't you bse this?* referring f @ broomstick thet wes leaning &p sgainet the wall next to him,
Roberts fnmediately got upset and pulled Mangurm by the forsanm tn leave the room, bumplng Inte Lamade snd
spifing his beer In the process. Mengum sppesred fo be "o out of 1T thet she "didn' know what was going on.™
Reberis ang Mangum ieft the Bving room and walked down Haliway 4 toward Dave Bvans’ room, followed by Dan
Hannery.

The group of players st In the Iving rooim bepan to thin out, A number of thern. walked out fhe front doer,
but some, inchuding Lamads, steyed behind for 2 few minutes, lamade then walked out the frant door onfo the
front porche He saw a2 mutnber of people 2long the East Compis well across North Buchariap, He also saw Kim
Roberts’ car st parked out In front of the house. He recalled seelng Kim Roberts walk oul to her cr alone, but he
could ot recal] whether € was st this Bme or fater, after be had re-entered the house and kit 2 szoond fime. He
did remember seeing Matt Zash and Ed Dopgles throtigh the window In Zash's room an the front of Hhe house,
vihich promptad him to go back in the house. -

tamade went beck nto the house, through the Bving roam and Dan Flannery’s room, and oo Matt Zash’s
roonn Zash and Douglas were In there watching television. [amade was In there for & couple of minutes and then
degided to 40 to the bathroom. He went tn the other door to Zasl's room, which opendd up Trio Halway B. The
dotr was locked from inside Zash's room, 50 Lamads unlocked It and walked Into Ballway B. He did not see anyone
i1 the ares, The door to Bathmom B was open, so he went In, On the sink, b2 oW & simall bleck bag with some

rach lylng next fo T He presumed § was some of the cash thet had been coliected for the two-hour rostine that,

ted lasted only & fow minutes. He took the money and tmried & hackinto Zash's room through the door adjscent
o Hallway B. . .

Matt Zash and Ed Douglas were still i Zashis room when Lamade retumied with the money, He shiowed &
to thery, and Zash told him to pot it back. Dave Bvans then entered the room from Dan Fannéry's room. He saw
izmade wih the wsh, and lamade gave It & him. Dave took the tash and told Lamads fo leave the house.
{amade walked throunh Flannery's room, Into the §ving room, and out the front doar. He did not see anyone ebe
in the lipg room,

Once mitside the bouse in the Foot verd, Lamade saw 2 number of players st sianding around the East
Campus wall agoss the street. This may have slse been when he saw Kim Roberts walk fram the alley side of the
house to her car. He also heard someone say to Kim Roberts, “You an't Jeave her here,” referring fo Crysta!
Mangom, Lamade then walked down thé zliey fo the back yard area, There, he saw Crystal Mangum bdng down o
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the back pordhy, motionless, There were 4 or 5 players stending around back there, Induding Dan Flannery. They
were falking about what to do with Mangum. He heard somaone say, ™We need o get ber out of here,” and e
heard someone else say something aboul how someone assacizied with Mangtsn might show up with 3 qun. A6
that point, Lamade turned arourid and walked back up the aliey.

Lamade met up with John Walsh and Dan Oppetlisana, who wers on the other side of the East Campus
wall, They left the arez on fooh,

ED BOUGLAS

After practice on March 15, 2008, £d Douglas went t hE spartment on Central Campus and unpacked
from the Calffornda trip antd messed around on the computer for 2 Bide while. He then called Erk Henideman to see
what was going on, and Henkleman told him that some pzople hod gathered at 610 N. Suchanan o play washers.
Douglas decided 1o join them,

There wers severgl team members b 610 N, Buchansn when Dougles arived that sBemoon, Some were
drinking, but & was not 5 full-blown perty.. Douglas was not drinking that day, sp, al some polnt leter In te
sfternoon, he offered fo be desionated driver for Glann Nick, Bret Thnm;:ma, and Kyle Dowd, who wanted to go
back to thelr apartments 3t the Belmont to change and maybe foke = nag befbre the party that night, At the
Belmuont, they also watcherd 2 movie. The four of thesn refiimed o 618 N. Buchenan eround 1000 or 10030 paa.

Dougles recalied thet he heerd =t some point earier I the day hat there would be strippes &t the parfy
that right. Deugles was not involved In that decision and did not know why thiet decision was made. Dpuglas was
nnt Inferested In sesing strippers st ail. For Hist reason, he really only Intended $n drop Kidk, Thompson, snd Dowd
off 2t 610 N, Buchanan, heng out for a iitls whils longer, and jeave when the strippers’ routine was set to begin.

Back &t 510 K. Buchanen that night, Dougles ended up mingling around the house for shant an heur, He
saw & niyvher of the players. Not meny siood out, although he could recognize that Jay Jennison and Kevin Mayer
were considersbly more intoxdeated then they had been before. The general vibe at the pariy was chesrful, not
raucaus, and peopls were clesrly walting for the shipper rouiine to heghn, Dougles™ understanding wes that the
strippers were supposed to anive and begin thelr routine around 11:00 pom. When thet didnt happen, he decided
o stick sround and costinue to mingle and socizlize with His tesmmates. He drank one beer the entlra night.

At around 11:30 pan., Dougles made Hs way To Dan Flennery's room, whers he sat down on Flnnery's
bed to waich $The Cofbert Report” {which beghns at 11;30 pan, on Comedy Central). Douglas spacifically positioned
kimself on Flanneny’s bed so that he would sofbe able t see the sirippers or any of thelr routine, He was jolbed in
Flanmeny's room by Matt Zach and Ryen McFadyen, They were barely more Interested I the mtine than Douglas
was,

Whils they were In Flennery's ool welting for the rautine fo begin, Tory Mclevlit came Info the room B
say that the first stripper bed amived, and she was Blark. That rews disabpointed most of the guys I the béuss,
many of whom had gethered in the adjzcent fving room and pushed the couches back to make room for the
routine. Also before the routine bagar, Kevip Oolemen stuck By head into Dan's room to 25k Matt Zash whether
they could use s speakers for the music to accompany the routine. Apparently the music I the Iving roomy was
hooked up to small, weak speskers, as Douglas could clesrly hear conversation over the music. Zash refused o let
them use Hsspeskers,

The sirippers’ routine fially began. Douplas thoupht It was around sidnight, but he could not specifically

. recall whether The halfhour *Colbert Report” was over when tha routine sladied, Although he did not see any of

fhe mdtine and had not yet laid eyes on elther ong of the stdppers, he codd Immedisiely tell that the guys were
disappointed In the routins,

About five mihules Tt the roufine, Dougles moved with Malt Zash snd Ryan McFedven from Dan
Flannery's room into Zash's room bo wetch televislon in there. Douplas was sitfing in the swinglng hammock/chalr
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in Zasis rpom, and Zash was sitting =t his computsr. Douglas befieved that basebsll may have been on the
felevision, '

Withir sbout fve minutes of being In Zashs room, Dougles heard McFadyen say he needed to use the
Spttroony, McFadyen wanted o use Bathmoom B, but the door from Zesih's yoom to that Halway B was locked, so
WicFadyen went back put of Zash's reom through Flannery’s room. Howsver, he refumed within seconds and asked
Fash i he conld uplock the other door of Zash's room to use the bathrmam In Haliway B, Zash agreed,

 Within minutes; McRadyen refumed from the bathroom, Dougles recalied that McPadyen said somethibg
e, “Hey, T sew some of the money there niext to her purse.” Douglas recafied McPadyen suggesting that tiey
sholild Teke the money back, since they didn't ast what they paid for. Douglas and Zash disstaded MeFadyen from
teking the poney.

 Within mirutes of McFadyen's bathroom Hip, Petér Lamsde came Ifo Zash's room and sid "It over,”
refayring o the routine; He told them thist he could =i the guys were bored and disappolnted with the eoting, so
t decided to ask the girls i they had any toys. He offered to let them use = broomstick, snd cne of the siippers
got very upset. Lamade told them the strippers were feaving.

Because Douglas reslly didn’t want fo ses the sirppers or be involved nany afternath of Bl lgsving, he
staved In Matt Zasit's room for up o ten mose minutes after Lamade came In there, He oontinved to watch
television, which be remembered to be a basebsll geme, Ed estimates thet be keft Zash's room st zbout 12:20 =,

During the entire time he was Iy Matt Zash's roam, which shared a well with Bathroom B, he did ot hear
anyone screaming or yeliing, racial slurs or stherwise, and he did st hear saything Indicative of a:struggle or
mssault. However, he could tel] that taldng was going on in Hallway 8.

Dotiglas evertuzliy left Matt Zash's room and walked siraight through Flannery's room, Into the iving
soom, and out the font door, Outside the house, he hiooked up with Matf Danowsid, Den Lofuss, and Fred from,
“They ait decided fo walk fome fogether {they lived near sach other), buf fhey wanted to walt for Ban Oppadisano;,
sa they sat on the Bast Campus Well across the street from 510 N, Buchansn, ’

Dougles reralied that there was @ woman sitting Tn the diiver’s seat of # derk-rolored cor parked in front of
510 #. Buchanan, She was alone in the car, end no one wes tzlking to her mutslde the .

2% some point durlng the approximately 10 minutes that he sat on the wall, Donglas saw ancther worhan
walking fram =roond the side alley that rups beslde 610 N. Budienan. He said she had an “ebnormial galt,” which
couid have been Indicative of Impairment. He spadifically remembered that Dan Flsnmery hielped fer get bito the
front passenper seat of the e

¢ ahout that tims, Douglas Heard an sxchange between the first woman in the car and one of the players.
“The player tsed the werd “migger,” and the waman was saying, “You #mp-dick whie guys. had D pay for wsr”
Douglas decided It wes tme for him ko leave, even without Den Oppedisano. 5o Douglas left on foot with Matt
Danowsk, Dan Loflus, and Fred Krom.

AN LOFTUS

Dan Lofius was with Nick O'Hare and Matt Danowsk! around 8:38 or 3:00 pan. when he got & call fom the
mptains letiing them know that there was a parly happening at 810 N, Buchanan, Loftus had been drinking since
about 7:00 or 7:30 p.a., but he was not dnunk. He got a ride to 610 K, Buchanan and was dropped off thers,

There wag nothing out of the grdinary happening at the house, Around 15 guys were there. Some of the
{zcrosse. players, duding Colfin Finnerty, were playing Belrut in the Beinut room. Others were In the back yard
playing washars, Loflus may have seen Dave Evans in the back yard area colfecting money for the keg and o pay
the strippers.
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When the first stripper armived, Dan Fanrery came ints the Iving room b et them know that she was no
white and & ask them I they ol still wented tp proceed witlhy the routine, Evervone sald yes. After that, toftus
walked out the Font door onfo the front posch to make & rell phoss c3l. He sow Dan Fennery &lldng to Kim
#oberts In the front yard. After Brdshing his call, he went back Inside the house Into the Hving room. When the
second stripper arrived; her amival wes announced o the guys Tn the Iving room, but they were 2ll old that the
shrippers were going o meet in the bathroom before starting their routine. Evervons wailted I the living room for
sbout 15 or 28 pore minutes,

Shartly after Roberls and Crysial Mangutn entered the Iiving robm to begin thelr routing, Mangum asked ¥f
any of the guys wanted to “get hvolved.” She then Jooked at Devan Sherweod, who was seated hehind Lofhus,
Sherwood got up and walked toward the strippars but was told by the other one to 5§ back down. Loftus then
heard someons ask the stippers whether they had any sex toys, snd one of them responded no, He then heard
Peter Lasnade say, "You can se this,” refeiving to a broomstick. Shortly afer that, the strippers became upset and
ended the routine. They left the living room fhrough the Balrot roora door. Only the caplains foliowed them,

Somd of the guys began to lsave the houss, Others, Including Dan Loftus, steyed bebing In the Bving room
znd were 2l talking abost how they felt ke the sbippers had hustled them. They had been pabd &l of that money
bt ked only “danced” for a few minutes, A witie faier, Loftus walked back through the Befret mom door Into the
zrea of Hallway A, looking inta Dave Evans’ room. He did not see apyone back there,

toftus then walked back through the Belrut room info the Kitchen, He walked ot of the Kichen door o
e back yard. He saw Crystal Mengum ing down on the badk porch, and the batk door was open. He thought he
suw some pecple skanding lnside the house In Hallway B, He walked through the gate of the chaln Bnk fence and
then slong the fence line up the alley. He ssw Rysn McFadyen and Kevin Coleman thers. &s he was walking furthey
up the slley, he noticed that Den Flannsyy was behind him, walking Crysial Mangum fo Kim Roberts’ e,

Lofius then joined Mat Denowsk, Ed Douglss, and Fred Krom on the other side of the street across North
Ruchansn. Loftug hesrd siemming going back snd forth between Kim Roberts and some of the guys on the East
Campus wall. He heard Kim Roberis caff them Plktle-dick widts hoys,” which mads Him isugh. He did not hear
gnyonz else use 5 radal she. He eft on font shortly thereaftar,

CHEIS IOFTHS

Chls Loftus Is Dap Loffus® rother. He first heard talic sbout hiring sirippers fur the parly that night when
he was at practice that day, and |t was confirmed during conversations in his dorm, Edens 2, sround 4:30 or 5:08
p.m. that sfiemoon, Loftus’ ghrifriend was in fown at the time, 50 he was not paticulatly inferested in the strippers.

{ofive and His giffriend went to the perly =t 610 N, Buchanan with Ryan McFadyen, Mike Youny, and Ben
¥oesterer, They smived sround 1000 pan. Loftus stoyed thers with his girlfflend for abolt 45 minutes. He
rememberad that Kevin Mayer was very drurk. He saw Collin Finnerty In the Belral room and 2gsin in the beck
vard. T was obvlous that Collin bad ‘been drinking, bl he was not “slhuring Nils speech drunk.”™ Lofss saw Dave
Evars In the back yard. He also sew Reade Selipmant oot thers, Loftus aixd his girifriend et 610 N, Buchanss
arcund 13345 p.am. and book 1 ceh batk to his dorm room s Tdens 20

Arpund 1:00 or 1230 27, Loftus was stll up when a number of his tesmmates retumned o the dorm I the
affermath of the party, They kcluded Collin Finnerty, Brad Ross, Ben Koesterer, Jey Jennion, and Ryan McFadyern,
They were all making comments along these lines: “It was terrible™; “They took sur money™; “you were jucky you
didn® stay™; eta. Collin Finnerty wes on e phong for a Iitte whils, presumably with his giifiend. Collin later rame
Into Loftus’ room and said that the party was terrible and that he was going o bed, He did net seem out of the
ordiary In any way,
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STEVE SCHOEFFEL

Steve Schoeffal wae a freshman last year. He recatied that, sometimé late on thet sfternoon of March 13,
2005, he heard Dan Rannery and Dave Evans tslking about hitng stippers to perdform st a parly et night,
instesd of going o Teasers, The genaral thought was, “If evervons s already golng o be here, why should we go
o7 As a freshman, Schoeffel was dispetrhed with other freshmen 53 1105 Urban Sieet to bring some couches
back to £10 W, Buchanan for people to sit in the thing room diging the routing,

Becase Schpelfel veas riot interested i seelng the sirippers; be then [eft 610 WL Bucharan arotted 11200
g, and went Back over to 1105 Urban. He did viot remember seeing Collin Finnerly or Reade Seflpmann in tha
iiving room. He did see Dan Hannery on bis way oot the font doon, Fannery was stahding on the front porch
waiting For the styippers to arrive,

Back st 110% Urban, Schoeffel played video games for sbout an hour fo an hour-and-a-half hefore people
staried aoiving from 510 N. Buchenan. The first parson was Josh Covalesk, fllowed by & number of sther giys
after that. They were sl meking comments along these lnes: “What & waste of money'; “They only danced for five
minutes™; and "It sucked.Y He also recslfed somenne ssying Semething sbout the fact that they got some of the
money i:az;k He heard someone else say that there were concerns $hat the strippers” “bouncers” may reburm with
guns. He thooght that person was Rob Schroader.

At sboot T30 s, Schoeffel dedided to go hack fo Fask Campus, He et on foot and oid nok notice
anything unususl slong He wey.

BEN KOESTERER

Barause of an nglighiity, Ben Koesterer had ant-gone on the road dip o Caﬁfamia with the feany the
praceding weskend. Inctead, he had gohe home to New York, and he did ot get badk to Disham and s dorm
roos &t Edene 2C untl abuut 9400 p.m. on the nlgbt of Men&ay, Figrch 13, 2006, About helf s boor Iater was the
first hie heard of 3 party that night st 510 N. Buchanan, ant many of hls tearamates from the dorm hed already left
for the party. Micheel Young gave him, Ryan Mofadyen, Chrls Loftus, and Loftus” ghiftiend & ride to the pariw,
Young stopped by the Canting for some food on the way there and actually dropped them all off at 1105 Urban
Sireet before continuing on & RDU Arport fo pick up bis girdftlend,

Koesterer stayed st 1105 Urben Street for & Hitle 'while and then went aver to 610 N, Buchanan. Kothing
seemed ot of the ordinary to him except for the fact that 8 bunch of courhes were spread sround the perimeter
of the Mving room. When he asked someons why that was, b was told for the fitst time that there would be
stripuexs aryiving later for 2 performance, He walked around the house and saw & number of guys scattered around
the place and In the back yard, He saw Dave Evans In Hallway A and Collin Fnnerly b the kiichen, but he did not
recsll seeing Reetle Seligmany anywhere, Koesterer did not drink &t all that night.

Althowgh he went back and forth Belween 1105 Urban and 518 N Buchunary be was in the hack yard gt
$10 M. Buchanan when he first beard that the slrippers had amrived, He went Into the house and entered the Iiving
room from the Belrut moom, He thought that the sirippers were alresdy In thers and had Started thelr mutine by
the time he sat down, The routine appeared “sioppy” to him, and the strippers looked *uncomfortable.” Koesterer
did not recalt hearlng the broomstick comment or any specific banter preceding K He thought it was all prethy
stupid, so'heleft 610 N. Burharmn put of the Kichen door and seturned ip 1105 Urban with 32y Jennison,

Whers Kpesterer and Jennison gof back to 1105 Urban, Bo Canington and Steve Schoefiel wers there
playing video games with two sther guys, Because &t was' & four-player gams, all Koestérer and Jennison could do
yeas sit on the front pordh and walk For an opening. While they were walting on the front porch, Collin Finnerty and
Zark Greer arive, Collin seemed perfectly fine and orma and did not Jook agitated or nervous or disheveled,

Shortly after that, Yoestersr et 1305 Urbon with Collin, Zack Greer, and Jey Jennkson. They walked to the
Cosmic Cantina and got some food before 12king & ceb back to the dorm at Fdens 2C,
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Y JEHNISON

Jay Jemison first heard there would be 2 parly ot 610 N. Buchsnsn op Merch 13, 2006, &b the end of
praciics smlier In the day, He anived st the house arounid 3:00 pam. and begen drinking beer and playing washers.
He continued drinking steadiy before leaving o foot to get something for dinner on Ninth Street. He got back o
$10 N. Buchanan arcund B30 or $:00 p.m. and confinued o drink besr, He estimated that he had approximately
12 beers over the 9-hour period bebween 3:00 p.m, and midnight amd said that his memory wes vague 25 a resuit,

“The first he heard that stippers would be performing =t $ie parly was when he got back o the hoause
around 200 pan. Dan Flannery appeared o be In charge of the effort and was oolfecting money from gveryone.
Jennison heard that the strippers wers supposed o awive st 11:00 p.on. He remembared that s lot of peopls wers
I Dave Evars’ badroom betwesn 10230 and 11500 p.am., berause Davs figd music in there. Jennison went Into the
wing rootm aound 11:00 pam., but It seemed like they waited forever for anything fo bappen. He recalied that ha
was sting on the fieor next to Kevin Mayer, who was passed out, '

He saw the sirippers enter the: living room from the Beinut room arsa. There wes ™ Tot of Jaughter” during
thelr routine. It was dear that none of them expecied the stippers and thelr routine fo Jook ke they ended up
looking. He did not remermber any specific comment, being made By the sirippers or the guys In the Iving room.

He remembeted lsaving 510 M. Buchansn with Beyr Kopstersr sharily after the mutine began. Thay wenk o
1105 Urban Street. He could not recall moch afier thatl

DAN THEODORIDIS

Dan Theodoridiz was in his dotm toow raued 7:00 or 5:00 p.am. on March 13, 2006, when he cafled Dave
Evans o see what was going on, Dave mid Wim thsy were heving a party at 610 N. Buchanan and Invited him to
o, Theotoridis walked o the party by himselt He wend to Clnelll's and ordered some food Tor delivery to 616
N, Buchanan, He amived at the houss zomefime betwesen 2:00 and 1000 pum He watked through the front door
and saw Dave Fvans,

Theodoridis walied n the Fving room for s food and ate It there onde it arrived, Some other puys were
straightening up the room. He heard that two white strippers hiad been bired to perform later at the parly. When
he Fnished eating, he went over o 1105 Urben Shest with some guys and brought Bark some couthes to the
Ying room 2t 610 N. Buchsnan. He walked sround the house and out Into the back yard for & while. He saw Tony
McDevite and Matt Zesh, bt he did not spedfically remermber seelng Collin Finnerty or Reade Seligmann, He ended
up back in the Bving room walting with the otfier guys for the strippers to arrive. At one point, he opered the front
dror and jooked ot ang saw two people, at least one of whom was a woman.

Sometime shortly after that, Dan Flannary came into the fving room ard told everyone that the slrippars
had amjved, but they were both black Instead of white, Fanpery asked i everyone still warted to go on with the
show, and everyons sald yes, The general consensus wes that they had been walting for an howr for the reutine io
start, and they were rsady for | fo sterk.

The shipipers entered the iiving room from the Beirut ropm aves, The routine was “dirty and sioppy.” Kim
Roberts seemed to be mudh more coherent then Crystal Mengum, who looked “high or drunk.” At one point,
Mangum asked them F anvone wanted o iake thelr dothes off and play. Devon Sherwood gob up In mespanse fo
that and walked toward the shippers, but he backed off when e other stripper sald no. Den Flannery poured
zome beer an one of the strippers. The strippers were dolng things io each other that Theodoridis had never seen.
For example, Mangum put ber face in Roberts’ rear end and was Jlicking her, Someone then asked them whether
they had any so¢ toys, and the response was nn, AL thet polot, Peter Lemade emerged from, the comer with &
broomstick and sald, "Here, we have this.” Roberts “fipped out” In response to thet comment. I seemed ke &
contrived overreaction ta Theodoridis.
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Shortly after that, Roberis Jeft the Hvlng room with Mangurm, and they were followed by Farineryand Dave
Fyans. The rest of the guys remalned In the lving room for about 5-10 minutes, wondering what was going on and
why the stippers were so offended. Tooy McDeviit sventually went back to the Hallway A area through the Beirut
oo, Théodoridis ramalnad In the Tving room for about 10 more mintites, while others 2R out the froat door.

After that waiting period, Theodoridls went through the Belrut room o the Kithen and out the Kieben
door Into the badkyvard, He saw Ryan McFardyen standing on the hack porch nd Dave Buans standing in the back
yard nezr the porch, Dave was argulng with McFadyen. Theodoridls hesrd McFadyen say, "T've pbhthe money.” He
then heard Dave say, “Put it back where you fourd . We don't want any problems. TheyTe gonna come back snd
they hetier find their money.” It seemed 1o Theodoridls Tke Dave won the srgument, and McFadyen refurned Into
the house through the back door. )

“Thesdoridis also remembered being i fhe iving room 4t one goint after the routine had ended when

Flapmery was orguing with Crysts! Mangu and Kim Roberts. Mangum kept seying, “She's my baby,” until Roberts
Frally sald to Mangum, ¥ don't sven fnowyow.” Flenoery wes trying fo im hoth of them down, but Mangum did
not seem coherent at &ll.

“Theodoridls eventually found Himself outside in the front yard area with Mike CataBing, Zack Greer, and
Kevin Mayer. Mayer was very drunk and kept complaining that he had pald $100 but hednt seen anything. Dave

Euans approscherd ther afid was ndng to get everyone under 21 years old to leave, Dave was bying to get Mayer

1o shut op, bul Mayer kept yeling that be pald $100 and didn't see anyibing. Dave finely pulled sdme maney out
of his pocket fo give to Mayer just to get Him o lesve, but Mayer refused the monzy, They were &l dedding
whether ta calf i & night or go o, and they fnally decided not to go sub Theodoridis did not recall seelng efther
of the strippers while he was out In font of the house during this thna.

Treodondis and Mke Cateling hopped over the East Cempus walt end began to walk back toward thelr
dorm rowT.

ROE EDER

Rob Schroeder momed wih Rewde Selidmann thelr freshman year and with Collin Finnerty thelr
sophomore year (st year), Consistent with everyone els2’s desoriptions of them, Schroeder descibed Collin
Finnerty &s “the nicest Kid, not s angry ¥, and never in a bad mood,” and he desorbed Reade Seligmann as a
“hy the hooks Kid” who would “slways be telling people not do anything wrong.” Schroeder knew and respected
fave Evans as an upperciissman and saw him a3 2 well-respected leader of the team.

The fast Bme Schoadsr hesrd tslk sbout having & party st 610 N. Buchanan of March 13, 2006, was the
day hefore on the plane ride back from San Diege. On the aftemioon of the party, Schroeder arrivad at 620 N.
Burharan around 2:00 pan. and beoan 1o play ™yerd games” and drink beer. Some of the other sophomores had
taken an YoBox over to 1105 Urban Street and were ploying video games there. Lobs of penple were coming and
going and heading back and forth bebween 510 ¥, Buchanan and 1185 Urban.

The first time Schroeder heard any talk shout stippers wes drouiid 5100 or 7200 paa,, whsn f was getiing
derk. Sume people had epparently decided o forego the annual ip 1o Teasers and {o hire strippers to perform st
18 N. Buchanan Instead. Dan Flannery had epparently made the armanpements and requested two white sirippers.
schroeder recalfed that someone, maybe Flannery, was collecting meney to pay te strippers. Healso recalled that
some of the players hed kit 610 N. Buchanan lste i the aftemoon or early inthe evening & get some oo,
shower and change, i, While Schroeder “wasn't drunk” that night, be “definkely wouldnt have driven”

Srhroeder recafied walting In the living room Tor quilte some time before the strippers arived. He estimaterd
#hat about 25-30 guys were In the room. When the first stripper ardved, word made i to the iving mom that she
was there. However, it seemed ke at leact 20 more minules went by Before amghing else happened, He rapalled
seeing Reade Sefigménn in the room siiing on a futon. Schrosder =lso recalled that some of the guys were
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disappuinted fo hear that the strippers were black instesd of white, but, "Of course, we couldn say anything about
fhat to the gids.”

When the strippars finally walked Into the room, people started langhing, The routine was “hilarious” 8nd
*absurd.” Crystal Mangur seemed “eut of It.” Schroeder heard one of the strippers say, “Can we get & di ck by play
with?" Schroedér vaguely remempbered that Devon Shenvood stood up and then sat back down. He also saw and
keard people @iking ameng themselves while the routine was going on. He heard Reade Seligmarm: say, *This is
disgusting,” which 2 Job of guys thought was furmy, beczuse Reade really was disgusted, Schioeder also recalied
that Peber Lamade said something about a broom, and “the girls srapped.” They immediately 1&ft the lving room.
Schroeder remsined seated 0 the Iving room while “the seniors” followed the strippers o go K to thew
Schroeder saw Collin siting near the television,

A few minutes der, Schroeder left the house with someons But could not recall who. Reade Seligmann
was “already gone.” Schroader went to 1305 Urban Street. He picked up the X-Box machine and carried It back out
o the front of 610 N, Buchanan,

Schroeder was stending slong the East Campus wall aooss the sheet from 610 N. Buchanan with Bo
Camington, Josh Covaleskd, and Kevin Mayzr. Carrington was mlisg for 2 cab. Schroeder saw Kim R oberts getting
into = car in front of 610 N. Buchanan. She was “zrgulng with someons,” He heard her yell something bke, "You
rich white kids need me to get your dicks off.* Schroeder did not remember seeing Crystal Mangum outsida the
house, Shortly after that, his cab arrived, and he ki

KEVIN MAYER

¥evir Mayer drank a significant amount of alcohal on March 43, 2006, and did not recall meny detslis
shout that day and nioht. He recalled aimiving first at 1105 Urban Street that afrernoon and playing X-Bax while
others went to 610 N. Buchensn. He eventoally went over to 630 N, Buchanan, He remembered seeing Lolin
Finnerty there. The last thing ba remembered sbout being Tnside the house was glving $6%.00 to Dan Flannery and
hearing the senlors el the freshmen to go get stme couches from 1105 Urban Street. He did not remember seeing
the strippers st 2l He vaguely remembered belng outside the house and Dave Evaps telling Hm thet he would
ghve him maney ¥ be (Mayer} would just go back Inside the house.

“The next dey, Kevin Mayer went ever to 1105 Urban Strest to get his backpack, which ha had leff there,
He was wih Rysn MoFadyen and Ben Koesterer, They 2i then went over to 510 K. Buchanen. The front door was
focked, 5o they walked around the botise down the alley towerd the back of the house; At the back comer of the
house nsar the chaln link fencs line, they saw & black bag on the ground, Next 1o the bag they sew a o=l phone
and driver's cerse and batte of perfume, They put the lems In the bag and loft i thera,

MATY WIL

Mitt Wilson lesrned 8t some point on the affernocn of Mareh 13, 2006, that there would be & parly st 618
N. Buchanan that night and that strippers would be there. He apd his roommate, Breck Archer, went over to the
party together, They parked on Urban Strest and walked over to 810 K. Buchanan,

Wilson walked It the house thraugh the Frent door, By the tme he arived, about 25 guys were already
there. Some were playing “beer pong” In the Beirut rooth. Wison drank some beer, bt he estimated the tokaf
ammmt e drank after arriving at the party that night was 4 @ns of beer,

Shortly after 11:60 pm., Wilson went over fo 1105 Urban Sireet to play X-Box. He saw Reb Sthroeder, Jay
Jermison, Kevin Mayer, Zack Greer, and Bo Carrington. He was there for sbout half an hour and rebumed o 610K,
Burhanan arcund 1130 po. 1o swalt the arrival of the stippers.
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Back inside 510 N. Buchanan, Wiken saw Dave Evans and then found 2 Sest In the Wving room ap the
couch sipng e Font wall sdjacent to Buchianan Boulevard, Wilson otcasionaly luoked through the window blinds
and saw Dan Fannery cutside @iking o the first stdpper whe anived. He remembered seslag Collin Fipnarty In the
%ving soost hut did not remember seeing Reade Selgmann. A few guys were prelly drunk, but, for the mest part, &
wasn't & “mezy drunk rght” When the second siripper arrived, Deve Evans came Inta the Bving mom and oid
everyone that she had arived and that the strippers wers not white, as everyons had expecied.

The stippers eventually came info the living room From the Befot room ares ahd started thelr routine. Tt
was “sloppy.” Crystal Mangum sesmed incoherent, and Kim Roberis sesmed “a Wtle hesftant™ and “unsure of the
situation.™ Shortly into the routing, Wiksen recalled that Peter Lamade held up 2 broomstick, but he did not recalf F
{ amade sald anything about the broomstick. The strippars then abriptly ended the roptine,

Guvaral minutes after the robtine ended, Wilson Ieft 530 M. Buchenan through the front door

FRED KROM

Fred Krmn was =t s apsriment on the efiemoon of Mardi 13, 2006, with several pthef jundors an the
temm when they got the word at sbout 7:00 p.m. that; Instesd of golng to Teasers, there would be a party at 610
%, Buchanan thet might with strippers perfoirning. The waord came fram elther Dave Evans or Dan Hannery. Shortly
after Haat, Krom took & cab 'to £10 N, Bucharan,

When he arrived 2t the hotse, there wers sbot 15-20 guys there. He'went back apd Torth between the
back yere, where people were playing washers, and the Beirut room, where people were playing Belrut, Me ended
up spending most of the pight hefare the dance in the back vard pleying washers with Wick O'Hera and 4 or 5 dther
guys, Dave Evans was out there for 2 while, bul he was skso walking around the house, Dave did not seem
ntoddeated to Krom, and Krom esBriated that he (Krom) had 2 total of 5 beers over & 4-hiour pariod et night.

Most of the peopls had atrived ot the parly by 1030 pan., and most of them wére tiking sbout the
planned mutine by the strippers, At about 1100 p.m., everyone convened ins the Hiving room to awak the sryival of
Hhe sirippers and the begiming of thelr routine. Krom did not specliicelly remember sesing Collln Finnarty that
right, but he did remember seeing Reade Sefigmann, bemsuse he sstnear Resde nthe iving Toom while everyone
was walting for the shippers.

Tri faet, Keom spoke with Resde for & while while they welted. Krom specifically remembered that Resde
didl not seem Impaired. As the delay went on, Krom and Reage wers basically ssying o each other, “What are we
dulng here? I's been an hour already.” They berame anxious and annoyed, more than anyifing else. &f some
point during the valt, Dave Evans ame Into the yoom and sald that dnly-one of the sirippers had atrived. A¢ some
phint after that, Dave snd Dan Finnery came back Info the room and announced that both strippers were noiw
there, hut they sweare “not what we expected.” Dave and Dan asked everyone If they still wanted to oo Hwrough with
i, and the general sentiment was, “Why not? We're here, and we've been here fora while.”

KRer that, the strippers entered the Iving rovm from the Belrut room, Manglm appeared Inroherent and
was stumbling around, At ore point she fell down onto the fioor, and when shis ratsed up, she put her face M Kim
Roberts’ rear end. ¥rom losked at Reade, who Jooked dispusted. Some of the guys were egging on Devom
Sherwood 1o dance with the strippers, and Sherwosd fnalfy got up amd walked towerd them, but e quicdy sat
tack down. Krom Hhen beard somenne say something about sex toys, and Roberts sald, "No, 1 left them at home.”
peter Lamade then sald, “Why dow't you use this?™ Roberls immediately becaie offended and siarted saylng, "I'm
5 dancér, not & hooker, T fust trying o make 2 fving. How can you degrade me ke thal®” Mangum then started
yelling, “You white boys! Let's get put'of here. tels call thé cops,” Mangum appesred to ba “more than high or
drumk™ Tt seerned Bke she had a split personafity, that she was happy one second id angry the next, wanting to
shay one secand and wanting fo leave the next,

Finally, Roberis and Mangum Jeft Bhe Being room toward the Belul room, snd they were followed by Dan
Flaonary, Dave Bvans, Wilem Wolcol, and Bret Thompson. Krom saw Resde Seligmann get up and wak toward
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the fronk dopt of the house. Krom then went to the domrway between the Beliut room and Haliway A, He sew the
sirippers back In the arez of Dave's room with the guys who had ipfowed them. Tony McDevitt was also back in
that ares, Krom mey heve also seen Kevin Coleman back there,

Flennery was doling most of the talking $o the sirippers. He was Irying 1o it e dowr, ond so was
Dave, Fannery was apdlogizing and deliing the strippas e relax, Krom hesrd somie of the ather guys say, "We's
nnt going fo pay $800.00 for 2 2-minute show.” Crystal Mangum said, "Lets leave these racist white boys,”™ but
hen, almpst immedistely after theh, she sald to Roberts, “Let’s go finfsh and make some money.” F!ar*ner? way
reasoning with Roberts, saying “Look, we pald you $800.00 for 2 hows; you cant have all this money " Roberts
finally said somathing zlong the fines of, “You tan have some of the money back.” Crystal Mangum then mentioned
aliing the paolice. At that point, Flennery sald to Roberis, “lust take the money and get ot of here.” Roberis
seemed kind of sgnpatheti: toward Flannery. Referring to Mangum end ber ematic behavior, Robers sald fe
Hannery, "Look, 1 feel bad, I just met this gitl today. She's Incoherant. T don't know her. T tell you wheh T give
you my el phone numbar, a0d 1% come back In 2 week, ¥in somry.” Mangum's top was still downy, and her breasts
ware sxposed the entire Hime this exchange was oocurring In Deve's bedmuom,

“Than, both stippén went Inte Bsthroom B. Some of the guys were wondering what they wess dolhg i
there, Other guys were complaining sbout paying sl that money for nothing. Dan Flannsry was ot the door of
Bathroom B trying to telk to Mangum and Roberts through the door. Dave, Bret Thommpson, and Wiillam Wolcott
were rear the desk In Dave's room. Dave was feliing evervone to leave, and He finally sald, “Let's just get them ot
of here sl Jock B back door.” That went on for severs! minutes,

Finalty, shout 10 minutes after they went intp the bathroom, the skippers opened the door and watked out
te back door of the house, Krom saw Dan Farmery follow them, and maybe Dave Evans ss well. He remembered
hearing Dave sey, “Close the door and fock .7 Krops then turned armund and walked back écm Haliway A,
through the Belmt wom, and back e the living room.

Krom then left the house trough the frant door, maybe with Tony McDevitt, Krom then sew “most of the
guys” across the sireet neer the Eest Campus wall, Krom slso sew Kim Roberis In her car sbout fo drive away.
Flannery was at Roberls’ window asking her i she was okay to drive. Krom then ssw Orystal Mangum walking feom
the alley toward Kim Reberts” esn. Mangum's top was still down, ard she wes missing 2 shoe, She was glone and
sppeared 1o be sturmbling. She had nothing in her hands. She first weni bo the passenger side of the car and sat
down In the font passenper seat, She then gof put ard walked arourd to the driver's side, where Flannery was
fatking Hrough the window o i Roberte, Mangum told Flannery $o shitt up, #nd she then told Roberls that they
should go back in the house and finish the dance and make some more money, Mangem then walked back from
the car o the abey toward the back of the house, :

Ko watked fo the spot whers the alley mests North Burhsnan Boulevard. Acress the stree), he saw Ed
Douglas, Matt Danowskl, and Dan Lofus standing on the othey side of the East Campus wall, Down the allay, be
saw Bred Thompson and some other guys standing near the bark of the bouse. Xrom could hear Mangum bangihg
o the back door of the house, yelling, *Dan, let me in” Krom did not see Dave Evans at that tme.,

Krom crossed the mad end telked to some puys who were still gathered oot thera. He helird Kim Roberts
and & todiple of the players yelling back and Forth 2t each other, He eventustly walked awey toward East Campus.

HICK O'HARA

pick CBara found out ghout e parly that afternoon while he was golfing, He hevd that there would e &
keg end that strippers would be performing. He drank & beer with his dinner and then headsd over o 610 M.
Buchenan with Dan Loftos and Matt Wison between 8:00 and 5:30 pan. It was & "nopmal scene® 2t the house.

Thers were sround 20 people thers when O'Hers arved, There was g keg near the Belrngt room. People were

playing washars In the back verd, DHara sew Collia Finnerty out there, He elso saw Dave Bvans colieching money
for the keg and to pey the sdppess, 0%Hara did sot remember anyone belng very drunk.
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CPHare played washers In the back yard untll he weas toid to eome Inside around 10:30 p.m. to gl ready
for the strippeys’ arrival, D'Hare was ane of the first guys into the Iving rosm snd 53t on 2 couch with Dan Lafius,
Dan Oppedisang, and Devon Sherwoot. The guys st the party hiad been told. thet the sirippers would be white,
Whila they were all walting Tor the routine fo sterf, Deve Evans tame inlo the ving rooim snd snneunced that ane
of them had arrived, but she was hiack. A number of the guys appeared dsappointed at thet news, UHara then
walked put anto the front porch to make 2 cefl phone call, and he saw Dan Flanmnery auf n the front yard talikdng to
Kimr Roberts, After zhout 5 minukes, O'Hara went back Into the iving room. Af some point after that, Dave Bvans
came back Into the lving room and sald that the second stripper hiad arrived and that ghe, oo, wes black. Sotme of
e guys debated just lewving and going fo Tessers, Other guys suggested not paying them, but Dave Fvans said,
"o, we're gonna po with It They're already changing In the bathroom.” Other guys were messing with Kevin
Mayer, who was extremely drunk and had passed out. '

£ faw minutes iater; the strippers walked Ints the iving room from the Belut room area, They began thalr
tolitine, which was "sloppy.” They were felling 2l over each other. Kini Roberts seemed “more together” than
Crystsl Mangum, who was tying to ke her shoes off but cowld only get ons shoe off, Mengom said, “Let's geta
dick up here.” Devon Sherwood approached them at fyst prompt, but Kim Reberis told Him to st back down,
saving, *Ne, 1o, ro, %S just the girls.™ A« some point shortly after that, O'Hara heard Peter Lamade make the
broomstick comment, Within moments, Roberts sald, “No way, not doing this.” Roberts ket the iiving room toward
the Beind ronin, and Mangum followed her. ’

C'Hare remained tn the Iving ropm sres for 2 whils affer the sirippers’ roufine ended, A lot of the other
guys left the house through the front door. O'Rars rememberad that Kyle Dowd was I the lving room with him.
He alsc saw Dan Fannery In there. OHara oocasionally walked put onto the front porch to see what was
happening In the front of the house. At oné point he saw Kim Roberts sitting in her or. He alo remembered
hearing scmenne say, “She’s going into the back yerd.” He went back indo the Jiving foom,

‘Back Inside the house, C'Hars heard somenne 52y, "Lack the doors.” He welked back through the Belrut
youm into the kiichen and locked fhe Kichen door, He looked through the window of the Kitchen door and saw
Crysta! Mangum lying o7 the bzck porch. He did not see snyone ke arotmd her. He then walked badk through the
Befrut room Into the fiving muom and left the house through the frant doon

While Utz could oot exactly remember the sequence, he recalled that, at some point, he watked around
the hotze down the alley to the back of the house, whers he saw Dan Flannery aod Kevin Codeman, He did fiot see
Coliin Finnerty or Repde Seligmann or Bave Bvans, Crystal Mangum was on the back poech. O'Hara remetnbered
that. Mangun was “pretendig o talk on B cell phone” and was also “pounding™ on the beck dooty saying "Let me
in.” O’Harg then walked back toward the front of the horse, When we asked O'Ham if he coufd be dearer shout
the sequance of this particular event, he sald that & may heve oocured before he went back Inty the house the
final Hme and locked the kitchen door and saw Mangem through the kitchen door windew lying down op the badk
porch by herself, He Just could not be clesr.

O'Hara 4id remember beipg barck it In front of the house st the end of the sley when he heerd thet
Mangum weas “stll back there.” He heand someone elte say she wes pessed out™ Shodly after that, he saw Dan
Flannery waking Mangum up the alley toward Km Robaris® tar In front of the hause, Mangum wes “mumbling
something.” O'Harm suggested that they call the pofice, but Flannery sald fie didn’t want to get anyone n frouhle,
Ha-Just wanted to get Mangum ot of there. Tony McDevitt was @lking fo Kim Roberis. Flannery pot Mangum in
the front passenger seat of the car.

O'Hara then crossad the street 1o join some peher guy’s standing near the East Campus wall, He heard 2
burich of comments golng batk and forth sbout the money. Someone sald, "They ripped us off.” Someone eise
said, “We got some of the money back.” Someone else said, "No, Dave said to put If back.”

O'Hamm siso heard commends exchanged helween stme of the guys and Kim Roberts. He heand Roberts
yell *iimp dick.” He walked awey with Fomi Clite and Tony MeDevitt shortly after that
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7000 McDEVETT

Tony MicDevitt got to the perty st 516 N. Buchansn around 9:30 paw. on March 13, 2006, He stared
sleying washers and drinkng beers I the back yard, He heard that strippers souid be arriving at the house and
performing st 1100 pe. McDevid remembered that Dave Eveng sppesred to be “orchesirating™ things ang

keeping &1 eye o evarghing.

HicDedlt wert into the Iving room with everyone else when the word spresd around the parly that e
strippers were about fo awive, McDevEt remembered seeing Resde Seflgmanh In the lving room, because he was

wearing & red polo shirt. He did not specifically remember seeing Cedlin Firnerly. McDevitt remembared that & toak:

' 2 long time for the stippers’ routing to begin and thet, as 2 practiral matter, that slowed a ot of the drinking
dowm, because the guys were sl basically siting In the Hiving room waiting for the mting in begin,

Eventislly, the shipoers walked Inta the iving room from the Beful room. Kim Roberts appeared {0 "zke
charge” of the routing, but It was & very “aviovard dance.” The guys were looking aroind at sach other lke, "What
ts this?™ Crystsl Mangum seld st one point, “Went Us to do more?” She than steried fo moan. None of the guys
frund t zttective In any way. Mangum ten asket ¥ snyone wanted o joln them, Devon Sherwood got up, but he
st back down pretty guickly, The routine was “not golng well* and McDeviit could “tell” that Mangum was drunk
or on some satt of grig. She wes on the floor moaning, aod T looked and sounded awiil The routing then ended
sbruptly for some reason. MrDevitt perceiver that the strippers were upsst because the guys were not ™Into 6™
The sirippers walked out of the fving room owerd the Beirut room,

" The guys sitting by the Iving room immediately began to complain: "Mar, that sucked™; “They just siole

our money’; and “Let’s get our money badk.” In addiion to lusing the money, & was the first time thet mast of
Hiem had ever szen g stripper, and they wera cbviously expecting something a Iot different than what they had
st seer, Some of them left the house throngh the front deor, while others, Ingluding McDevltt, stayed behind.
WrDevitt did not see Colin Finnerty or Reade Sellamann In the group thet sisyed behing in the living rooms.

Evertunlly, MeDavit went out Into the font vard to ke sute that the guys who 1t the houss werent
just hanging eut it Tont of the house making nolse, He saw & bunch of guys out thers and toid them %o gef back
inside the house prijgsve. He ssw K3m Roberts and Crystsl Mengum siting In Robarts" mar out In front of the house.
Flannery was elidng o them, McDevitt approached Robaris’ sids of the @r and was starfing o K 10 her when
Dave Evans spprosched snd said 1o McDevitt, “Tony, et inside; wed handle B Thete were lobs of peupls
standing around making nolse outside the house, and Dave was trying to avold being charged with 2 nole
violation.

PcDevith want back Inside the house through e front doar, He saw Nick O'Hara and Ben Koestersr in the
Tving oo, Mkt Zash was siso there, He did not see Reade Sefigmann or Collin Finnerty, There were a couple of
pther guys I thare, but ¥icDevitt could not remember who they were, Everyone was still taking sbout how they
had beens ripped off and desarved to get thelr monsy back. Somenne mentloned that they bad gotten some of the
money back. Somepne else mentioned that the strippers might be coming back to resume the routine, During this
ronversation, McDevitt heard nothing come fmrm anywhere In the house thet would suggest that an assault was
orourring. .

Fichevitt Inally decided to leave the house for good. But before he ieft, he sew Kim Robenty back Inside
the houzs jooking for something. She sald she wes looking for 2 shoe, MeDevi walked around fooking for the
sho, He walked Into the Beimit room ard then into Haffway A toward Dave’s room looking arounst, He did not sz
o7 hesr enyibing back there that would suggest thet an assault was occuring: In fad, he did not ever sg= Crystal
Mangum fn the house afier the strippers ended thelr routine, Kim Robers wes tefking to & couple of the guys,
though McDevit oould not recsll who they were, saying she would be willing to came back some time “just for you
guys, not & big cowd.” McDevitt then walked out the front deor into the front yard.

Custslde, MeDevitt saw Nick O'Here and Tom Clute. He heard people saylng thet Crystsl Mangum was
*passed ou,” 50 he walked down the slley toward the back of the house, He saw Mangura lying on the back porch.
Dan Flannety was back there as well, Someons speculsted that Mangum had overdosed op drugs. McDevilt walked
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back up the alley towsrd North Buchanan and trossed the sbreet. 'When he gol tu the East Campus wal, be tumed
around and saw Dan Flannery walking Crystal Mangum up the alley toward Kim Roberts' o i font of the house.
MeDevitt was stendirg with Nick 0'Hare end Tom Clute,

At some palnt Bfter that, McDevit heard Kim Roberts yelf, “Limp-dick white boysi” In respense to that,
McDevitt heard someone say, “Thank your grandfather for my colton shirtl™ Shortly after thiet, MeDavitt wafked
away toward East Campus with Nick OfHsra and Tom Clote.

HNED CR

ted Crotty got 1o the party 3t 810 N. Buchanan arsund 700 pan, on March 13, 2006, He spent most of Hs
Hime in the back vard pleying washers. Crolty Hesrd thal, Instead of goiag to the topless ber that pight, there
would be srippers at the party. He remembered Interacting with Colin Brnerly quite 2 bit that night. Collin was
drinking, but he wes tomposed. Croty slso rfamembered seelng Reade at B party, Nothing stood out sbout
Reade’s demesnor or behavior,

Crotty took a couch from Matt Zas's roosm and put It in the liing room in preparation: for the sirlppers’
routine, He wss ako gelting people drnks & lot, Whén he heard thet the sbippers had arived, he siaysd §n the
fiving ropm to wal for the toutlne o begin. The sixippers eventuslly came into the Iving Toom from the Being

room area, Trysial Mangum wes swayihg sround. One of the strippers, Crolty was not sure which, asked & any of

the guys vented to joln them. Crotly rememberad that several guys were saying “You go ug” and ™Na, you go up,”
hut e did fct remember anyone adually approaching the women, He did not Bear any comment showt =
broomstick .

Within mintites, the routine wes over with. Crolty dd net know why & Had ended, Everyone In the Bving
roun was complaining about how fhey had pald $B00.00, but the dance hed ended so gulckly. Crotty Ieft the
house out of the front door and walked over ¥ 1105 Urban Street. He thought he was the first person to get there
From 610 N, Buchenan. He rememberad seelng KJ, Sauer there, Dan Flammery eveéntually carme aver and told him
to get inslde the house,

{rotty stayed at 1105 Urben Street with severz; sendors for 2 lite while snd then walked bark by §10 K&,
Buchanan inwani CEMPUS.

JOSH COVALESKI

Josh Covaleskd found ouf around 3:30 p.m, that there was a party 3t 510 N, Buchanan. He Teft his dom
shortly after that nd went ©o the Canting to gt something o eat. He arivesd &t the darty around 10:30 pm. He
went to the back vard, He heard for the first time Tn conversation back there thet sivippers would be performing
jater =t the pariy. He remembered that Dsve Evens collscted money from him st somé tme before the strippers
arrived.

Covalesy tater went Info the ving room with averyone else fo wait for the strippers fo arrive, He sat ont g
couch near Matt Zash's room. He reniembered seelng Collin Finrerly and Reade Seligmann in the mom. He also
remembered seelng Deven Sherwood walk hio the room,

The shippers evertunlly came o the living room from the Belrut room. They did not appssr to be

mfortable with each other. Covalesk! was, himsslf, very uncomforteble. He had never been fo a sirip-ciub before,
amd e did not realfze how uncomforiabla It would make Him fes! to watththe foutine. So he basically loked down
at the finor most of the Bma.

Lovatesk] got up to f=ave before the roxitine ended, As he was moving toward the front dior, he heard the
broomstick comment, He kept golng out the front door and walked over to 1105 Urban Stest, Steve Schoeffel and
8o Carringtor were 2t 1105 Urban playing video games. About 15-20 minutes jater, Rob Schroeder, Kevin Mayer,
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Hed Crotty, and Jey Jennbson arived at 1105 Urban. Collin Finnerly may hiave been with that group, which was
mostly sophomores. Then some of them left to est,; while others studk sround,

Covaloski Infe 1105 Urbon sround 12:50 a.m. and ook @ cab back bp Edens 20,

TOM CLIFTE

Tom Cluts zrrived at 610 H. Buchsrsn behwesn ::30 and 4138 pom. of Merch 13, 2096. He waiched TV I
the Hving room and played washers and Beliute He drank 8 ar 7 beers throughout the aRemoon. At ahoot 8:00
.., peogie started Hlking about hirng sivippers s an aliEmative o going 1o Teasers, so that the guys undar 21
years ofd wouldnT be 1eft oub. Dan Fannery and Dave Evans were imvolved I making the arangements and
coliecting e muney o pay the shrippers. Throughout the night, Cluge probsbly drenk 5 Io 7 mose beers.

At sbout 11:00 paw., the guys steded gethering Tn the eing room to welt for the sirippers 1o arrive, There
wes a3 mood of anticipation, and ¥t seemed Jike they walted for st lenst 45 minutes In the Iving yoom hefore
anything happensd. Finally, Dan Flannery came info the Iving room and said both strippers had afrivid, but they
were blark. Fannery mentioned the possibliity of calling the agency back and asking them B send white sirippers.
to the finuse to perform, but everyone basically decfded tn go forward with the routine.

About 5 minutes fater, Kim Roberts sad Crystal Mangum came into the Biving room Fom the Belnd room.
Mengum could barely stend up end had fo hold onio Roberis, The routine was 2 joke, Clute maftioned to Chels
Tkac Hat he wanked his money back. Some of the guys in the room encouraged Devon Sherwood to dance with
fhe striopers, One guy asked the strippers ¥ they had zny sex toys, and one of e sirippers respondsd, "No, we
wark the reaf thing.” Peter Lamade thew made the broomstick remark, and the wiomen beceme sngry and cursed
at the guys i the room. None of the guys seid anyibing to them In tesponse, The stippars left the iving room
through the Beinut roomi. Dan Flannery and seversl other guys followed tham, but Colln Finnerly and Reade
Sefigrmann wara not among hem,

Dave Evans ther fold everyons 1o walt In the Tving roem. He sald they would Iy to set the suippers in
testume the mutine, Around I} minutes Jeter, guys sterted to call cabys end leave. Reade was one of the first o
lezes Hheough the front doon & bunch of other guys then left s & group, and Cute thought Collin was ooe of

them.

Chie wes standing in the Jving room nese Flennery's bedroom with a faw other guys, compleining about
warting Hielr money back. There was no music on, and the house was iy guist, Clute did not hear anything that
indicated Hat an asssult was occurring anywhers In the house, Ha did remember Ryan McFadyen saying at one
point in the living room thet he had teken sofme of the strippers’ money badk One of the seniors, probably Dava
Eyans, told McFadyen to put the money back, and McPadyen walked towand the bark of the house. Dave Bvans
finally toid everyope fo leave,

Tlute [eft the house through the front door and walked out into the front yard. Kim Reberts' car was there,
He walked atross the street and hung out by the East Camples well. He saw Kevin Colaman walk up the allsy from

the back of the houss and beckon him and the other guys to the back porch area. Clute walked down the alley
toward the badk porch. Kint Roberts was in the driver’s seat of the oar st that time,

When Clute got o the back of the house, be saw Crystal Mangum lying ot te bac porch, He thought thst
K.1. Ssuer, Ryan Mcladven, and Ban Flannery were among the other pleyers back there with Kevin Coleran, Cute

heard someone say that Mangum had besn banging on the door Irydng o get back Into the house. Tute weas back.

there for aboul 30 seronds, and then he refumed up the alley, aoss the strest, to the East Campus wall, A lite
witlle Bler, Clute saw Dan Fanmery help Crystal Mangum walk up the alley to Kim Roberts® tar ot I front of the
house,
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As Roberis was sbout to drive away, she yelied, ™Yoir fimp-dick white hoys, you fucking orackers are
fucked, and I'm golng to call the police.” A couple of the plavers'responded with il shirs, and Roberts drove off.
Clute then walked toward the Caritina with Tony McDevith.

DEVON SHERWOOD

Devon Sherwood had net been on the Hip fo Sen Diego that weekend buk had bean oot of town, He flew
back inta ROU Akport on the night of March 13; 2006, and asBmated thet he got batk to Dughant around 130
p.m, Shortly after 1000 p.m., e got a czll from one of the other players fetting him knowthers was & perly st 619
M. Buchanan Boulevard,

Shenwond srrived at the houge sround midpight, just before the dance routtine began, Evervonz wes sitting
In the fiving toom when he errived, and he st o one of the couches, He triked to some of the other plavers sbout
the San Dlego ¥rip and the game. Everyone seemed happy and nonmal, Sherwood had no atcohal that night

Evénhmlly the strippers came it the ving room. Kim Roberts seemed “swars” of what was golng on, but
Crystal Mangin sesmed “out of it, wobbly on her feel, almost tmable to stend, much less dence,” Roberts stemad
embarrassed by Mangum, and te roufine was very Ezad Some of the guys wanted the show 1o be “spiced up,” and
they were pushing Sherwood out onto the dance fioor. Robarts sald, "We'e not going 1o dance with you,” so
Sherwood sat Back down. Shortdy affer that, Peter Lamade made the broomstick coment, and Roberts got angry.
Suiie of the players oot angry with Lamizde for making sudh = stupld fomment, Roberts “went on 2 Hrede™ and
said that whia {t was her “choloe™ 10 be theye, she would not stend for belng “disrespected,” Mangiin was "put of
£* but began paroting Roberks "Tve beer disrespected” rant. They began'gathering the dothes they had tsken off
during the roifing. Dan Fannefy was fmng ta calm them down and vwas asking them fo stay, Robarts refused,
repesting that she had been “distespected.” The strippers Ieft the living room through the Beinut room, followed by
X or 4 oiter guys, Including Flannery.

The guys whd remazined Iri the living robm were taliing bout what & waste of Hive and money the whde
thing was, Some Immediataly Jeft the house through the frant door, Dhers wera taikdng sbout wanting thelr money
back, Others were =iking about going 1o get smething o est

£hout 10 mimdes after the roitine ended, Dave Evans came back Inin the fiving room. Sherwood taiked o
Him. Dave was scared et the giippers” “pimp” (Sherwond's word} would come back with 2 gun and hort them,
Dave wanted everyone under 21 years old B leave hovse, because the shrippers were raising so much hell Hat the
police might come.

Sherwood then walked 1 the back of the house o the zree of Deve’s bedroum, He saw B of 7 guys back
thers, some In Dave's room. Sherwood dif not 'see or hear apvihing to suggest that a physkeal or sexus! asssult
was happening anywhere back there,

Sherwood walked back Info the iiving robm, With 4 or 5 other Freshmen, he walked out the front door and
went aoess the street to the East Campus wall. Sherwoed could hear 8 conversation happening down the afiey,
but he did not see who was having that conversstion. As Sherwood was standing st the wall with several other
freshmman, he saw Dave i the front yard of the house, Using Sherwond's nickname and alss referring to Tom Clute,
Dave yelled across the street, "D-Wood, Clute, what did 1 say? Just leave.”

AL that, Sherwood turned and watked back fo bis dorm rooms As Bie was leaving, he saw s group of guys In
the slley on the side of the house,

Dieven Sherwood was the only black member of the 2008 Duke Unfversty Men's Lacrosss Team. Be told us
anaqtzmcatky, *My tesromates are not racsts, I they were, T would know.” He also dended that any racid] shers
veere ever utiered before the dance routing, during the dance muting, at the end of the dance routine, or say tme
while ha was In the house,
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FACK CREER

Fack Greer ardieed at 510 N, Buchanar Rust after 7:00 pin. on March 13, 2008, He estimated theit sboul
haif e teem was there. He played washers in the back verd with 5 nsnber of other players. He heard that the
snnual frip to Teasers would be replaced by sirippers performipg at the party that night.

Arsund Y1300 pn., the word went around that the sirippets were ariving. Evaryone went bolo the fiving
room. Grear ended up sitting next to Dave Evans. For some reason, the strippers wers very Jate. Greer remembers
fhaving 8 conversation with Dave about the fact that they could st be out in the back yard playing washers Insiead
of sitting around In the living room walling:. Dave kept checking on the amival of the strippers and updating
evervone in the Bving room. At one point, Greer heard thst the strippers had arived, but they were not white.

Thers was some conversaton about that ks e living room,. but no one seermed concernad.

Eventuslly, the stippers came into the room from the Belrot roum, The routie was “Sloppy.” They
ohviously did not have snything planned. They eppedred fo be stumbling over each other, Crystal Mengum was
™messed up® snd *lying on the ground” and “didn't know what she was dolpg.” Kim Roberls seemed o be
sommunicating wih the guys in tha roory, At first the muys T the room were paying attention, but It wes o
obviously bad that a ot of the guys stopped paying attenfion. Then someone near the Belrut room door sald
something about the strippers using @ broomstick, Kim Roberis gok really mad, and the strippers It the fidng
roorm, Tt sesmed to Greer Hke he strippers were losking for sn sxcuss to lesve with the $800.00 without having &
do the perfonnane.

Shortly after the strippers left e Ivihg room through the Belnt room, 8 Bunch of guys lef the house
Hyough the front door. Greer steyed hehind for about 10 minutes, During that Bme,  lot of the guys were {alking
shout getbing the money beck and abowt how this was chviously 3 “bad idea.” Coflin Finnerly and Reads Seligmann
were not among the group that skeyed behing I the Iving room, Deve Evans came Into the iiving reom and said
they were irylng to get the skippers fo resutna the routing or o give sume of the money back. Greer left the house
through the front door white Dave was stll In the Bvlng room telking to the other guys.

Wian Greer walked oub of tha house jnde the Font yard; 8 Iot of guys were fmiking on thelr phones aud
trving toy figure out whiat fo do next, Greer saw Dan Thesdoridls bt <id oot sex Reade Seligmann or Collin
Finreriy, AL 12027 a.um,, Greer used his caft phone tn ol Collin Finnerty's ol phane, They alked abott what they
were going to d6 next. Greer remesbered that Collin told him that be was elther on his'way to 1105 Urban Strest
or already there.

Greer walked to 1105 Urben, probably with Ben Kossterer, Thers, they saw Collin and Jay Jennison on the
front porch, They all dedded In go to the Cantina o get some food, Greer Jeft 1365 Urban on foot with Collin
Kosstersr, and Jennlson, On the way to the Cantihz, they walked by 510 . Buchenan agaby, Greer saw Den
Theodoridls and told him that they were going to get something weat.

Greer, Koesterer, Jennison, and Collin went to the Cantiha and ardered some Tood. Collin & not hava any
money, so Greer paid for his food, After they got the food, they talled 2 b, which took them back fo their dorm
rooms at Edens 2C. The entire time, Colih appesred to be His normal self and not out of the ordinary I any way.

MATT DANOWSKT

A% sbout 600 or 7:00 pa, on Mavch 13, 2005, Mall Danowsld oot & el Fom Dan Fiarery, who said thet
the senfors had dedded to foregd the annusl trip to Teasers and, instead, heve a porty thet night st 810 K.
Buchanan where stippers would perform. That way, the puys who were not 21 years ol could be included,

Danowsk got & ride to the parly sometime between 500 and 16:00 pam. &t was & “regular” party, and
everyone wes fn 3 good mood, Denowski spent some Yme In the back yard with the guys playing washers, He
remembered sesing Coliin Firmarty back thers, and he also remembered that Dave Evens was collecting money
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fram everyone; He remerhered being told thef the strippers would be sriving at 11:00 pan. and that they were
white, Danowski also went inside the hotse and bung ouf and plsyed a game of Belmt in the house

AF sbout 11:00 p., everyone gathered in the living room to walt for the strippers To ardve and begln
thelr routine, They &ided up walting for “about an hotir,” During that Ums; the guys In the iiving room were
kidding sround snd wondering why | was &king s long. Danowskl remembered sesing Collin Finnerty and Reade
Sefigmann In the ving room while they were all walting, Dave Bvans wes gelng in and out of the room during the
vealt, At one poirt, Dan Flasnery came into the ving room and safd the strippers had arrived, but they were black,
There was = brisf discussion about whether fo go farward with the routing, and the genersl altfide was, “We've
been walting; Jet's get going.” -

Shurtfy after that, the sirippers ceme Inta the living rooms The performante vag peihetic, Crystal Mangum
appesred disoriented and sloppy. A& lot of guys were laughing. The strippsms *mufled up Devon Sherwood for &
second hut & wes “polntiess.” Someonz made 3 coment about & broomstick in 2 Jokdng manner, but the
shrippers took i seriously. They “siormed out” of the living room, snd Dan Flannery follower them.

Danowski stayed biind 1n the Tving rocm for about 10-15 minstes. During that tine, someone came ¥
the Hving room, probably Dart Flarmery, and sald, “Stay herey they're coming back.” But they never come back, and
Danowski Tef the iving room and the house through the front door, Other guys were stll in the living room when
he left, '

Whan he got outside, Danowsk went acoiss the strest to the Bast Campus wall. There were s bunch of
muys over theres He was trying to figure out where everyons was golng and what they were doing. He bewrd that
Collin Fnnerty was amorng 8-grolip oolng over b 1305 Urban Strest and thought he saw Colin walking over there.
“There wers some ouys, ncuding Dave Evans, who where trying to get everyons to lesve, berause they were
wintled about the police coming oF sbout the strippers’“bodyguards™ coning.

Danowek! could lso hear polse conilng from fhe back yerd ares dtwn the slley. He walled Dan Oppedisenc
arpund 1230 2.m. I see where Oppedisano was and ¥ he wanted o leave with him, Qppedisano sald that he was
in $he back vard area. ™You cughtta see this,” Oppadisann sald, "shes passed out on the back steps” Danawsk]
said, “Na, Ui leaving.” Danowski thought the guys had been hustled by the shrippers,

Danpwsk walked away toward His dorm room with B4 Douglas, Dan Loftus, and Fred Xrom,

EIBRS FOGARTY

Gibhs Fogaity arived 8t 610 K. Buchanan at about 400 mm. on March 13, 2006, with Chyls Thac, Tom
tiute, snd Ned Crody, He hung out gt the house aff affertoon, while several other tearm members came and went.
He did not start drinking unth about 7:00 p.m,, and he probably hiad 5 or § beers threughout the pight. Everyone
was watching television or playing washers or Beiroh.

#t shout 900 p.m., Fogarty heard some discussion sbout golg to 8 sirp dleb. Some of the players did not
Bave ID's b0 get into the club, which would have Jeft them out of the event. So pecple tatked abowt iing strippers
4o perform at the parly, Fogarty recalled et Dan Fanmery made the hlrng calls and requested two whlte strippers

around 25 years od. Afier that, one of the ceptains (Foarty could not ressll which one) ceme siound and
collected money. Fohrty recalied seelng Collin Finnerty that night, but be did pot recall seeing Reade Seligmann,

Fogetty was by the Beinul room when he first heard that one of the strippers Bad anived. However, they
were all told Hiat the routine would net start untll the other sivipper armived. All of the guys started gathering in the
fving room to walt for the routiie ks begin, Fogarty had never seen strippers perform &t a party, so he had no fdea
what %o expect, The guvs 1 the room were excited, leughing and joldng shout o When the guys first leamed that
the strippers were black, they were surprised. But everyone basically said, "The money's been padd Jot’s oo shead
with "
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When the sifppers Sared thelr routine, guys I the room starled fsughing, bl no one was being
angressive. It wes obviosly not whist anyone Fad expected. The sirippers Immediately started taidny some of thelr
diothes off, They moved around for about 5 minutes, Crysta) Mangtm was “messed up,” bk Kim Roberts wes
"helping her.” Peter Lamade: said something 1o the strippers, and ons of them said something back to Him about
having & small peris. Then the other one seid, "Let's get cut of here.” Suddenly, the strippers started to leave tha
rpom. Some of the guys wers shylng, *We peid you, Its not fair for you B walk out after only 5 iminutes.” The
strippers left through the Belrut rooms.

A burch of guys theri laft the house throush the Front door. Fogarty stoyed befind for a wihile. He ther
walked through the Belrut room toward the kitchen, but be did not recall seeing snyone Tn the back of the houss,
and he did not see or hear anything suggesting that a physical or sexual assault was ooasring back there, Fogarly
then walked Into the kchen awd cut of the kichen dour b the hsck yand, He walked acoss the back yard
toward the sifey. He did not se¢ enyone ki the back yerd or on the bad porch, He cslied Chils Thae on His csll
phone, Tkac sald he waz In the Tront yard, Fogarty walked up the sliey to the front yard,

When Fogarly got to the front vard, he saw & bunch of the guys from the tsam stemding arotnd: Ha also
s Kirn Roberts b1 her car In front of the hobse, Someone from the tzany, Fogarly thought b was A senjor, was
t=iking to Roberis, Fogarty hesrd people saying, “This 35 bullshit® and “Come on, at least give s some. of our
mansy back,” Soon after that, Fogarty and Chris Tkac walked away from 610 N. Buchanan toward Tkac's darm
ftele:®

CHRTS TKAT

Chris Tiee arfved ot 616 M. Buchanan gt about 4230 pun. o March 13, 2006, K3, Saver and Dan Fannery
or Dave Evens were teiking about hirlng strippers to perform at the parly that night, They were looking on the
intz=rnet and In tbe phone book for agencles. Guys were going back and forth that aflemoon antd early evening
betwesry 510 N, Buchensn and 1185 Urban Sirest. Tiac spent some time In the back yord 8t 610 N. Buchanan
playing washers and in the hotse playing Belnut. He had a “moderate smount” to drink that night, probably around
4 to 5 beers, He remembered that money wes being collected, Arcund 10:30 p.m., Tiec heard that the strippers
were ahout iy awrlve, The freshmen were serit o oollect couches for the living room from 1105 Urban Sireet,

Everyone gathered i the fiving room at 610 N, Buchanan fo weit for the routine o start, Bub & didnt start.
I seemed [ke at jzast 45 mimstes went by. During that time, guys were getting exdied for the show, but Hhe mood
veas basically faid hack. At one point, Den Flanpery come Into the room fo say that the strippers were black, Some
people were heshtant about that, but the decision was made to go forward with the show.

About 10-15 minises ister, the sirippers came info the Iving room. They were haing prefiy aggressies
towards each other” and “taking off each other’s dothes, straddiing each other.” The guys In the living room were
“ehmned® at the routioe. One of the Sirippors was bying ¥ get 3 guy Io join them, and Devon Shenwood
aventually stood up to approsch them. But then he appeared o change his mind. Thac then sald there wes a
verhal exchange between the dancess and the guys, One of the dancers sald something about the guys being
“Jimp-ddéck white hoys,” and Peter Lamade sald something about 8 hroomstick. One of the strippers then said, “T'm
not heving any of k" They ended the rotstine and jeft ths room.

The gitys i the ving roum stood around asking sach other what the hell just happened. TRac thought the
whale thing looked very conirived and thet the sbippers were ripping them off. The plains sl they would
handle the stustion, A fow minutes later, Tkar feft the house through the front door

Ot In front of the house, That sew Tom Clute and Nick O/Hara, smong others. He saw Kim Roberts out by
her car; just getting Inter the driver’s sest. Dan Flannzry was out there, too, Tiae then sow Crystal Mangum walking
towerd the rar from the allsy. She was ™falling =it over herself.* Kevin Colerian and some other guys wers walking
tiehingd her, Tkac saw her struggling to pet ko the rar, end Dan Flannery was trying to convinez them o elum
the house,
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At some polnt aiter that, Thet saw Manginm leave the car and heard her'say that she had fo g0 back Into
the Fouse to get her shiff. A¢ some point afer that, Tkac saw Mangom stnding pear Kim Robers' cr with
something it her hasids, which lodked fike 2 shoe. Thec thought st Dan Flanmary was belping her and that Kevin
Colemsan may have been helping her a5 well '

Tiag Jeit on foot with Gibhs Fouarly after St He esimated that he was ouiside the hause amywhere from
115 meinutes befors walldng aveay. .

MIKE WARD anp BRAD ROSE

Mike Ward znd Brad Ross ware not 8t the parly on Merch 13, 2006 Yard was in Ms hume sate of Hew
York, and Ross wes & Beleigh with his girlfiend, wha was a shudant af North Carolina State Uriversity.

Hotahbly, on March 16, 2008, Tivsial Mangum viewed Bred Ross’s pictore and said with “100% cortainly”
that he was at the parly thiee nights earfler, She viewed his plciurk again o Aprd 4, 2006, and specificelly stated
that she saw him “stending oulside tatking to the other dancer” See pages 745-751 of discovery for proof that
Brad Ross was never st the party. .

NN EEEEE R E-E-I- -2 I - R -gh -

Ty addition to the 27 plaver inferviews summarized hereln, you all have the Interviews and handwritten
statements of Dave Bvens, Matt Zash, amd Den Flannery that police ohisined on March 16, 2008, OF the remaining
17 players from the 2006 Duke University Men's Lacrosse Team, 2 are Reade Seligmann and Collin Finnerty, and 3
were pot st the party: Casey Caroll, Mike Young, and Adam Langley. Most of the remalning 32 players were
senfors who gradusted In Fey 2006 and are no longer in the sres. We were In the process of sefiing up intendews
of them In December when 3 number of devefopments ooeurred W Hie case which postponed those afforis.

it Is cleay, Hhough, thet we have spoken to the majoriy of the tesm members who were present #t various
Iocations i and sroond 630 8. Buchenem Brulevard o tie night of March 13, 2006, As we mentioned gt the
beginring of this letter, there were & number of unlversal observations and themes that ran through our Interviews
of thet majorty. Because we did nof repeat them & the naratie surimary of each Interview, they deserve
spmrsary refteration bere:

» While Reade Seligmann, Colfin Finherty, and Dave Evans zil have difesent persooalities, none of them
would ever commt the acks they are cherged In this case with committing.

= FRende Seliamann, Collin Finnerty, and Dave Evans did not sodslize with szch other or see each sther

outside of team activities. They were the last three peogle oo the team you would exped o go ot o
dinner together, let slone plan, commlt, and cover up the type of physital and sexual assault they are
chiarged with commiiting In this case. L o

« Because it was common knowledge thet a teguest had been miade for white strippers, everyone &t the
party expectad that the sirippers would be white. When they were told thet the womgn were black,
many expressed Sappaintment, but they sl agreed to go-forward with the performance. In other
words, there was never a plan to hire black women to perform for 3 group of predominantly white
men, and, when the group of predominently white men leamed that the women were bladk, they did
ok ==nd them mvey. ] )

» ‘Thers wer no racial shrs or threals of vialence spoken or yelled st the woinen by any of the men
inside 520 M. Buchanan Boulevard that night, Put anothier way, every single player we Interviewed—
fncluding Devor Sherwood, the sple black plaver on the mam—denled thet the young men in the
house ever yelled racia] sturs or threats of viotence at e women dorlng or after the routine,

= Dave Bvans did not heve & mustache on March 13, 2006,

= Noone saw or heard anything on the sight of March 13, 2006, which suggested thet & physical or
sexual zsspult was ocouning anywhere in the house at any time.
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» Mo one saw or heard anything affter March 13, 2006, wikch suggested that a physiodl or seas! assaull

had cooredd In the house thstnjght.
s Eyeryone we nterviewed said he would have intervered o stop such an assatlt and would never

angags In & "cover up” o conpeal Information about such & assault,

We subalt the contents of this lelter for the sols purpose of asshsting you | making the declslon of
whether to proreed fo il In these oases. 1T 1s owr grestest hope thet you will consider these materals in
comjuncton with the discovery materials and the other materisls we have provided o you and that you wil
conclude that the fust and appropriate exerdss of your discrelion In this case woukd be fo dismiss the, remaining

chames ageinst all defendants,

To the extent that we may be of any further assistencs In that process, we stand ready oassist you, and
we wil not hecitate todo sa.

Sincersly,

2
ph B. Cheshire ¥

oo M Gt

Wade ¥, Smith

Broed

Bradiey Bannon
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